
 
Government Efficiency Task Force 

401 Senate Office Building 
October 19, 2011 

6:15 p.m. – 8:15 p.m. 
 
 
 

1) Call to Order 
 

2) Roll Call 
 

3) Approval of Minutes 
 

4) Discussion of Business Regulation and Licensing in Florida 
 

5) Presentation on Business Regulation and Business Dashboard 
Tarren Bragdon, President and Chief Executive Officer, Foundation for 
Government Accountability 
 

6) Presentation on One Stop Portals 
Larry Novey, Chief Legislative Analyst, Office of Program Policy Analysis and 
Government Accountability 
 

7) Presentation on One Stop Registration for Florida Businesses 
Lisa Vickers, Executive Director, Florida Department of Revenue 
 

8) Work Group Discussion and Assignments 
 
9) Public Comment 

 
10) Adjourn 

 
 



Government Efficiency Taskforce 
401 Senate Office Building 

Tallahassee, Florida 
Wednesday, October 5, 2011 

6:15 p.m. – 8:15 p.m. 
 
 

MEETING MINUTES 
 
 
Members Present: 
 Chair Abraham Uccello 

Vice Chair Lizbeth Benacquisto 
Representative Frank Attkisson 
Representative Gary Aubuchon  
Speaker Larry Cretul  
Ms. Ann Duncan  
Mr. Matthew Falconer  
Mr. Michael Heekin (by phone) 
Representative John Legg  
Senator Patrick Neal (by phone) 
Mr. Eric Silagy 
Mr. Robert Stork 
Representative Rob Wallace  

 
Members Absent: 
 Mrs. Belinda Keiser (excused) 
 Lt. Col. Frances Rice (excused) 
 
 
Chair Uccello called the meeting to order at 6:20 p.m. 
 
Staff called the roll and announced the presence of a quorum. 
 
Senator Benacquisto moved to approve the minutes for the September 19, 2011, meeting.  The 
motion was adopted without objection. 
 
Ann Duncan moved to amend the minutes for the August, 30, 2011, to reflect that Representative 
Attkisson attended by phone. 
 
Chair Uccello introduced Secretary Ananth Prasad, Florida Department of Transportation, who 
yielded to Diane Gutierrez-Scaccetti, Executive Director and Chief Executive Officer of 
Florida’s Turnpike Authority.  Ms. Gutierrez-Scaccetti presented on the historical perspective 
and current status of Florida’s Turnpike Enterprise.  Secretary Prasad took questions from 
members related to the Turnpike Enterprise and the Department of Transportation. 
 

 
 



 
 

Chair Uccello introduced Mike Snyder, Executive Director of the Orlando-Orange County 
Expressway Authority (OOCEA).  Mr. Synder presented on the history and current status of 
OOCEA and took questions from members. 
 
Chair Uccello introduced Joseph Waggoner, Executive Director of the Tampa-Hillsborough 
County Expressway Authority (THEA).  Mr. Waggoner presented on the history and current 
status of THEA and took questions from members. 
 
Chair Uccello moved that the meeting be extended by 15 minutes.  The motion was adopted 
without objection. 
 
Chair Uccello introduced Reynold Meyer, Staff Director of the Senate Budget Subcommittee on 
Transportation, Tourism, and Economic Development.  Mr. Meyer presented on Senate Issue 
Brief 2012-208, Cost Effectiveness of Regional Expressway and Bridge Authorities and took 
questions from members. 
 
Chair Uccello discussed the process the Task Force will follow for exploring each initiative and 
work group procedure, as outline in his September 29, 2011, memorandum to the members of the 
Task Force. Chair Uccello assigned Matthew Falconer, Eric Silagy, and Robert Stork to the work 
group for expressway consolidation and requested that they meet via teleconference on Friday, 
October 14, at 9:30 a.m. 
 
Speaker Cretul proposed that the Task Force explore opportunities for efficiencies in business 
regulation and licensing at its next meeting.  Chair Uccello agreed. 
 
Chair Uccello opened the floor for public comment.  Joe Bourassa spoke on population estimates 
and measurement criteria. 
 
Senator Benacquisto moved the Task Force rise.  The meeting adjourned at 8:28 p.m. 
 
 
 



START‐UP FLORIDA
Government Efficiency Creates 

Opportunity for Florida’s Top Job Creators

Tarren Bragdon, CEO
Highlighting upcoming research by 
Joseph Burke, Ph.D., Economist



THE FOUNDATION FOR GOVERNMENT

ACCOUNTABILITY
• New free market think tank, founded in June 2011
• Based in Naples with a statewide focus (Tallahassee office 

opening in January 2012)
• Non‐profit 501c3 that does accept government funds (most 

funding from individuals and foundations)
• Goals:

1. Mobilize policymakers   and   the public    to    advance our 
shared free  market  values  through  solid research and 
aggressive outreach

2. Fight for reforms that create—not destroy—private sector 
jobs

3. Shine the light of transparency on all levels of Florida 
government



START‐UPS RELY ON GOVERNMENT ACTION (NOT $) TO
OPEN THEIR DOORS, MAKE A SALE, AND HIRE EMPLOYEES



START‐UPS: NOT JUST TWO GUYS IN A GARAGE…



FLORIDA START‐UP FACTS

Class of 2005:

Created 254,000 new jobs

Average size in first year – 5 jobs

4 in 10 start‐ups remain 
• For every 10 start‐ups, only four survived to the 4th year 
(2009)

Yet, 7 in 10 those new jobs from start‐ups remain



GOVERNMENT DELAY FOR

START‐UPS COSTS EVERYONE MORE
• Newly hired employees

‐Average 5 per start‐up
‐Forever lost income

• The entrepreneur (business owner)
‐Forever lost income
‐Forever lost profit

• The State
‐Higher unemployment benefits spending
‐Lost tax revenue

• Local Government? Not really…
‐Still receiving permit fees
‐Future higher property tax revenue



QUANTIFYING THE

COST OF BUREAUCRATIC DELAY
• Based on 2009 Start‐Ups with just a one week 
delay
– For one start‐up:

• Employees – $775 per employee (average week’s pay)

• Entrepreneur ‐ $775 in lost income (extremely 
conservative estimate)



QUANTIFYING THE

COST OF BUREAUCRATIC DELAY
• Based on 2009 Start‐Ups with just a one week 
delay
– Costs to the State of Florida (taxpayers)

• 172,236 new start‐up jobs (Class of 2009 Start‐Ups)
• One week of unemployment benefits for half of these new 
hires ‐ $18.8 million ($225 per unemployed per week)

• Lost sales tax revenue ‐ $4.2 million ($24 in new state tax 
revenue collected per previously unemployed new hire per 
week)

• Total ‐ $23 million

– Cost to Local Government
• Nominal



POLICY IMPLICATIONS

• One‐Stop matters 
– Reducing state delays for Start‐Ups by one week could 
reduce state costs and increase revenue by up to $23 
million

• Temporary or Conditional Permitting matters
– Many Start‐Ups, particularly larger ones, are depending on 
state licensing and permitting approvals

– Fast‐tracking this pre‐open regulatory processes means 
more jobs faster, lower state spending and more tax 
revenue

• Local government delays are a state concern
– The State has a vested interest in monitoring permitting 
time and other local government timeframes



POLICY IMPLICATIONS

• Launch PAD – Permit Approval Dashboard
– What gets monitored gets improved
– Build upon One‐Stop with Florida Launch PAD
– Permit Approval Dashboard to publicly report approval 
timelines of all state and local government permits

– Begin with overall quarterly metric reporting by local 
government to CFO 

– Some counties already make raw data available and other 
summary analysis

• St. Petersburg City Scorecard ‐
www.stpete.org/economic_developemnt1.asp

• Florida Benchmarking Consortium ‐ 20 counties; 28 cities and 3 
special authorities

http://www.stpete.org/economic_developemnt1.asp


 

 

Office of Program Policy Analysis & Government Accountability 
an office of the Florida Legislature 

February 2010 Report No. 10-22 

Florida Has Made Limited Progress in Streamlining Business 
Processes; One-Stop Portals of Benefit to Some Other States 

at a glance 
Florida has made limited progress in establishing a 
master business index to streamline business start-up 
requirements.  Other states have developed web portals 
that make it easier for businesses to obtain needed start-
up licenses, permits, and registrations and have reported 
benefits to both businesses and the state.  If the 
Legislature chooses to implement a business one-stop 
portal in Florida, it should consider key success factors 
identified by other states, including establishing clear 
system objectives, a strong governance and 
accountability structure, mandatory agency participation, 
and provisions for stakeholder input. 

Scope ___________________  
As directed by the Legislature, OPPAGA examined 
options for consolidating the business and tax 
registration functions currently residing within 
multiple state agencies and establishing an online 
business one-stop portal. 

Background ______________  
Individuals that start businesses in Florida must 
interact with multiple state agencies to obtain 
needed registrations, licenses, and tax certificates 
(see Exhibit 1).  For example, a contractor starting a 
construction company may need to obtain a 
professional license from the Department of 
Business and Professional Regulation, apply for tax 
certificates with the Department of Revenue, and 
register their corporation with the Department of 
State.  It can be frustrating and time-consuming for 

businesses to determine what licenses, permits, and 
registrations they need to legally operate in Florida, 
and the process often requires applicants to provide 
similar information (e.g., name, address, and 
business type) to multiple agencies.  In addition, 
because agencies may track information in different 
ways (e.g., using business address versus mailing 
address), data on businesses may be inconsistent 
across state agencies.   

Exhibit 1  
Starting a Business in Florida Requires Separate 
Interactions with Multiple State Agencies 

State Agency Activity 
Department of State, 
Division of Corporations 

Business registration – Corporate entities must 
usually register with the Division of 
Corporations, and entities conducting business 
under a name other than their own are required 
to register their fictitious name. 

Department of Revenue, 
General Tax 
Administration 

Tax certificate(s) – Businesses that sell taxable 
goods and services must obtain a tax 
certificate(s) from the Department of Revenue, 
which administers the collection of 33 taxes and 
fees, including sales and use, corporate income, 
and Unemployment Compensation Tax. 

Department of Business 
and Professional 
Regulation, Professional 
Regulation Program  

Business or professional license – Individuals 
and companies in many business and 
professional fields must obtain licenses from 
the Department of Business and Professional 
Regulation. 

Other state agencies Other licenses and permits – Individuals and 
companies in many business and professional 
fields must interact with other agencies, 
including the Department of Agriculture and 
Consumer Services, Department of 
Environmental Protection, Department of 
Financial Services, and Department of Health. 

Source:  OPPAGA analysis.  



OPPAGA Report  Report No. 10-22 
 

2 

Findings _________________  
Little progress has been made in streamlining 
Florida’s business start-up process despite 
legislative directives to do so.  Several other states 
have implemented online one-stop systems that 
streamline business start-up, which could produce 
similar benefits if implemented in Florida.  The 
Legislature should consider several issues if it 
wishes to direct Florida agencies to develop a 
business one-stop portal.  

There has been limited progress in streamlining 
Florida’s business start-up processes 
The Department of State has made limited progress 
to implement a 1997 legislative directive to 
streamline the state’s business start-up process.  
The state also has considered but has not 
implemented options to consolidate state agencies 
that have business registration functions. 

The 1997 Legislature required development of a 
master business index to streamline the business 
start-up process.  In 1997, the Legislature 
recognized that state government requirements for 
establishing businesses were cumbersome and 
placed an undue hardship on the business 
community.  To address these issues, the 
Legislature enacted the Florida Business 
Coordination Act.1

The 1999 Legislature modified the act to require 
participating agencies to use, contribute, and share 
information through the master business index.  
However, the act does not require state agencies to 
participate.

  This act directed the 
Department of State to develop a master business 
index, which was to consolidate all business entity 
records maintained by state agencies and assign a 
single identifying number to each business to 
enable agencies to share and easily retrieve 
business registration and license information.  

2

                                                           
1 Chapter 97-15, Laws of Florida. 

  In addition, the Legislature directed 
that the master business index be a central index of 
business entities and list all licenses and 
registrations held by a business with any 

2 Section 606.03(4), F.S., defines “participating agency” as an agency of 
government, which elects to participate in the exchange of 
information through the master business index. 

participating state agency.  The Legislature also 
required the Department of State to create a 
uniform business report for collecting and updating 
data for the master business index. 

Despite Department of State efforts, limited 
progress has been made to streamline business 
start-up processes.  The Department of State has 
taken some steps to implement the Florida Business 
Coordination Act, but it has not yet been successful 
in doing so.  In 1997, the department completed a 
feasibility study on the act’s provisions and 
concluded that implementation was feasible and 
would cost approximately $12 million over three 
years.  However, the department has never 
requested an appropriation to proceed with 
implementation. 

In 1999, the department created a single business 
identifier to meet the requirements of the act.  
However, as no other agency volunteered to 
participate in this effort, the business identifier is 
used only by the Department of State and it cannot 
yet be used to access business registration or license 
information from other agencies.  Also, in 2000 the 
department implemented a Uniform Business 
Report to list registration and licensure information 
for each business.  However, as no other agency has 
participated in this effort, only Department of State 
data are included in the report.   

In 2009, the department renewed its efforts to 
implement the act by initiating a pilot project with 
the Department of Business and Professional 
Regulation.  The two agencies agreed to share 
information related to licensed construction 
businesses.  The Department of State has developed 
a master business index database that the 
Department of Business and Professional 
Regulation can access to obtain information.  As of 
January 2010, the database had been populated 
with a test set of corporate data, and once test 
protocols are completed the database will be fully 
populated with Department of State data.   

Once completed, the database will contain 
demographic information on entities registered 
with the Department of State and construction 
licensure information maintained by the 
Department of Business and Professional 



Report No. 10-22 OPPAGA Report 

3 

Regulation.  This information will be searchable by 
a single business identifier assigned to each entity.  
The department reports that when the pilot is 
completed, it will be able integrate information 
from other agencies interested in participating in 
the effort.   

Despite these recent efforts, because of the little to 
no participation of other state agencies, the intent 
of the act to create a central statewide index of 
business entities and the licenses and registrations 
they hold has not been realized.  The Department 
of State cites limited funding and the lack of a 
mandate that all agencies participate as reasons 
why the intent of the act has not yet been achieved. 

The state has considered consolidating state 
agencies to streamline business-related 
processes.  Over the last decade, the state has 
considered several proposals to consolidate and 
streamline state agency business-related functions. 

 1999 – The Senate Committee on Governmental 
Oversight and Productivity reviewed the 
reorganization of the Florida Cabinet structure 
to assess the status and jurisdiction of four 
departments that were headed by individual 
cabinet officers.3

 2003 – The Legislature considered a proposal to 
abolish both the Department of State and 
Department of Community Affairs to create the 
Department of State and Community Affairs.

  The review proposed 
dismantling the Department of State and 
redistributing its programs to other agencies, 
including merging Division of Corporations 
functions into the Department of Business and 
Professional Regulation.   

4

 2003 – The Governor’s Office of Policy and 
Budget examined the feasibility of merging the 

  
The intent of this change was, in part, to 
promote a positive business climate by 
maintaining efficient and effective business 
registration activities and to promote the 
economical and efficient management of public 
records. 

                                                           
3 These agencies included the Department of Banking and Finance, the 

Department of Education, the Department of Insurance, and the 
Department of State. 

4 House Bill 1687 – Governmental Reorganization. 

Division of Corporations and the Department of 
Revenue’s General Tax Administration 
program.  The study concluded that the entities 
had similar processes, and integration or merger 
would increase awareness of tax obligations by 
corporations. 

 2008 – The Senate Committee on Commerce’s 
Sunset Review of the Division of Corporations 
examined previous efforts to merge the division 
with other entities and recommended 
continuing to evaluate the efficacy of 
transferring some or all of the division’s 
responsibilities to the Department of Revenue 
and re-evaluating the feasibility, value, and 
associated costs of implementing a Master 
Business Index.5

The state has not implemented any of these 
proposals, due in part to opposition by the business 
community, which has asserted that consolidation 
is not desirable or necessary.  These stakeholders 
assert that the Department of State’s Division of 
Corporations has efficient and reliable processes, 
easily accessible data, and high levels of customer 
satisfaction, and that transferring the business 
registration process to the Department of Revenue 
would discourage new business from locating in 
Florida due to that agency’s regulatory focus.  
However, these stakeholders did support the 
streamlining of business processes through a 
master business index or other similar system.  In 
addition, our current review found no compelling 
advantage to transferring the Division of 
Corporations to the Department of Revenue.  This 
transfer is unlikely to result in a large reduction in 
staff and there would be costs associated with 
transferring data systems and creating new 
business processes. 

  

Several states have implemented online one-
stop systems to streamline business start-up 
processes 
Other states have developed web portals that make 
it easier for businesses to obtain needed start-up 
                                                           
5 Agency Sunset Review of the Division of Corporations of the 

Department of State, Florida Senate Committee on Commerce, Issue 
Brief 2009-308, October 2008.  

 



OPPAGA Report  Report No. 10-22 
 

4 

licenses, permits, and registrations.  Florida could 
achieve similar benefits from such an initiative, 
which would result in the virtual consolidation of 
some processes of the Department of State and 
Department of Revenue as well as other state 
agencies. 

The Florida Business Coordination Act sought to 
make it easier for businesses to obtain needed 
authorizations by creating a master business index 
that would link all registrations and licenses via a 
single business identifier.  However, under this 
proposed system, businesses would continue to 
need to register separately with each agency, often 
providing the same information to each.  

In contrast, several states have established online 
portals that provide information and tools to help 
applicants start and operate a business.  These one-
stop portals allow applicants to enter business-
related information one time, which is then shared 
with all participating agencies and automatically 
used to complete these agencies’ existing 

application processes.  After completing the online 
registration process, applicants receive the 
information and documents necessary to begin 
operating their business. 

As shown in Exhibit 2, several states have 
established one-stop online business start-up 
portals.  For example, beginning in 2007 Michigan’s 
governor sought to improve the state’s business 
climate by reducing the time it takes businesses to 
begin operating and to simplify their transactions 
with state agencies.  Michigan’s enterprise-wide 
technology agency led the system design and 
implementation effort, which became operational 
in March 2009 at an estimated cost of between $5 
million and $10 million.  The online portal helps 
applicants determine what business registrations, 
permits, and licenses they will need; file the needed 
information online; and obtain tax statements and 
pay taxes.  The web portal also enables businesses 
to contact a call center for additional information 
and assistance.   

Exhibit 2  
Several States Have Implemented One Stop Portals to Aid Business Start-up 

State and 
Implementation Date  Name of System Participating Entities1 Functions 
Delaware 

(2006) 

One Stop Business 
Registration and Licensing 
System  

 Department of Finance 
 Department of Labor  
 Department of State 
 Department of Technology and 

Information 
 

 Enables applicants to register and obtain business 
licenses and register as a withholding agent and 
for unemployment and workers’ compensation 

 Provides a link to the Department of State, Division 
of Corporations to access incorporation forms and 
reserve a legal entity name  

 Provides a link to the Internal Revenue Service to 
receive a Federal Employer Identification Number  

Hawaii 
(2004) 
 

Business Express   Department of Business, Economic 
Development and Tourism 

 Department of Commerce and 
Consumer Affairs 

 Department of Labor and Industrial 
Relations 

 Department of Taxation 
 State Procurement Office 

 Enables applicants to register a business and 
obtain taxpayer and employer identification 
numbers 

 Provides customer assistance through live chat 

Michigan 
(2009) 

Michigan Business One 
Stop  

 Department of Information Technology 
 Department of Labor and Economic 

Growth 
 Department of Treasury 

 Enables applicants to determine state 
requirements, register/start a business, register to 
pay taxes, pay fees, and update information 

 Has associated customer assistance call center 

https://onestop.delaware.gov/osbrlpublic/Home.jsp�
https://onestop.delaware.gov/osbrlpublic/Home.jsp�
https://onestop.delaware.gov/osbrlpublic/Home.jsp�
https://hbe.ehawaii.gov/BizEx/home.eb;jsessionid=46BFDDCD043078368B98D245411D14EF.liona�
http://www2.hawaii.gov/DBEDT�
http://www2.hawaii.gov/DBEDT�
http://www.hawaii.gov/dcca�
http://www.hawaii.gov/dcca�
http://www.dlir.state.hi.us/�
http://www.dlir.state.hi.us/�
http://www.hawaii.gov/tax�
http://www.michigan.gov/business�
http://www.michigan.gov/business�


Report No. 10-22 OPPAGA Report 

5 

State and 
Implementation Date  Name of System Participating Entities1 Functions 
South Carolina 
(2005)  

South Carolina Business 
One Stop  

 Department of Commerce 
 Department of Consumer Affairs 
 Department of Health and 

Environmental Control 
 Department of Labor, Licensing, and 

Regulation 
 Department of Plant Industry 
 Department of Revenue 
 Employer Security Commission 
 Office of Regulatory Staff 
 Secretary of State 
 State Library 

 Enables applicants to establish and register a 
business entity, make changes to business filings, 
file and pay business taxes, register as an 
employer, and obtain and maintain selected other 
licenses, permits and registrations 

 Provides customer assistance through telephone, 
live chat, e-mail, and fax via a help center 

Utah 
(2003) 

OneStop Online Business 
Registration System  

 Department of Commerce 
 Department of Environmental Quality 
 Department of Workforce Services  
 Labor Commission 
 State Tax Commission 
 Some municipalities 
 Utah Interactive (private contractor) 

 Enables applicants to register business name and 
type and apply for and obtain tax licenses and 
identification numbers for income tax withholding 
and unemployment insurance  

 Provides information on obtaining local business 
licenses, although businesses must complete this 
process in the local office 

 Provides link to the Internal Revenue Service to 
receive a Federal Employer Identification Number  

 Provides customer assistance through e-mail and 
live chat 

Washington 
(2000) 

Master Business 
Application  

 Department of Labor and Industries 
 Department of Licensing 
 Department of Revenue 
 Employment Security Department  
 Some municipalities 

 Enables applicants to obtain a Unified Business 
Identifier and apply for over 100 state registrations 
and licenses, including business and tax 
registration, industrial insurance coverage, and 
unemployment insurance 

 Can be used to obtain licenses in some 
municipalities 

 Provides customized information and forms for 
specific business licensing requirements and 
corresponding contacts through a Business 
Licensing Guide Sheet 

1 Bold font denotes agency with primary responsibility for system. 
Source:  OPPAGA analysis of information provided by other states.  

The states reported that their online portals had 
produced advantages to both businesses and state 
agencies.  The states noted that their systems 
enabled applicants to begin operating more quickly 
because they could simultaneously file for multiple 
registrations and licenses and could file needed 
information at any time and place where internet 
service is available.  The systems also helped 
improve the states’ relationships with the business 
community, increased state agencies’ 
understanding of each other’s data and processes, 
which could lead to efficiencies, improved data 
accuracy, and enhanced compliance with state laws 
and regulations.  Several states indicated that their 

systems had reduced staff costs and improved 
revenue collections, but could not provide 
quantitative data regarding these benefits.   

Implementing a business one-stop portal in Florida 
could yield similar benefits, as well as provide a 
virtual consolidation of agency functions without 
the need to merge organizational units and the 
opportunity to implement a single business 
identifier.  In addition to making it easier to 
establish a business in the state, such a system 
could eventually be used to facilitate ongoing 
processes, such as license renewal and annual 
reporting.

https://www.scbos.sc.gov/�
https://www.scbos.sc.gov/�
https://www.scbos.sc.gov/LinkClick.aspx?fileticket=GkafpmM%2f83E%3d&tabid=84�
https://secure.utah.gov/osbr-user/user/welcome.html�
https://secure.utah.gov/osbr-user/user/welcome.html�
http://www.dol.wa.gov/forms/700028.html�
http://www.dol.wa.gov/forms/700028.html�


OPPAGA Report Report No. 10-22 
 

6 

Exhibit 3  
There Are Several Key Components for Successful One-Stop Initiatives 

Component Rationale 
Leadership support  Articulates vision and objectives and helps ensure progress  
System governance and project sponsor Creates an accountability structure; one entity should be designated as the project sponsor and should 

receive direction from a steering committee of staff from participating agencies that would provide input 
into system design and refinement 

Agency participation Mandatory participation ensures that the system incorporates all necessary components 
Stakeholder participation Helps ensure that the system is user-friendly through collaboration with user groups such as small 

businesses, accountants, and lawyers  
Consultant participation Helps ensure that the system design and implementation is led by staff with needed expertise   
Implementation plan with concrete timelines Promotes accountability and realistic project schedule  
Data system analysis Identifies any needed changes to existing data systems  
Funding Will require additional resources; some other states reported implementation costs ranging from $3 million 

to $10 million 
Source:  OPPAGA analysis. 

There are several key components to 
implementing an online business portal   
Considering Florida’s lack of progress in 
establishing a master business index and our review 
of other states’ initiatives, we found several 
components key to implementation of a business 
one-stop portal.  The states noted that it is critical 
for the initiative to be championed by chief 
executives, and agency participation should be 
mandatory.  It is important to establish a clear 
governance structure for the effort, and the system 
should be designed with the assistance of 
stakeholders including business groups.  Some 
states have used consultants to manage system 
design and implementation to ensure that the effort 
was led by persons with required technical skills.  
Exhibit 3 lists key components and their rationale.   

If the Legislature wishes to direct that the state 
create an online business start-up portal, it should 
consider these key components and create a 
statutory framework to guide the portal’s design 

and implementation.  Chapter 2009-73, Laws of 
Florida, related to the Unemployment 
Compensation Claims and Benefits Information 
System, could serve as a model for this effort, as this 
act specified project scope, agency roles and 
responsibilities, and created a governance structure 
including a project sponsor, steering committee, 
and implementation plan.  At a minimum, the 
effort should mandate participation by the 
Departments of State, Revenue, Business and 
Professional Regulation, and Financial Services.  

Agency Response ________  
In accordance with the provision s. 11.51(5), Florida 
Statutes, a draft of our report was submitted to the 
Secretary of the Department of State and the 
executive director of the Department of Revenue 
for review and response.  The Secretary’s written 
response is included in Appendix A.  The 
executive director’s written response is included 
in Appendix B. 

 

 

OPPAGA supports the Florida Legislature by providing evaluative research and objective analyses to promote government accountability and 
the efficient and effective use of public resources.  This project was conducted in accordance with applicable evaluation standards.  Copies 
of this report in print or alternate accessible format may be obtained by telephone (850/488-0021), by FAX (850/487-3804), in person, or by 
mail (OPPAGA Report Production, Claude Pepper Building, Room 312, 111 W. Madison St., Tallahassee, FL  32399-1475).  Cover photo by 
Mark Foley. 

OPPAGA Website:  www.oppaga.state.fl.us 

Project supervised by Kara Collins-Gomez (850/487-4257) 
Project conducted by Claire Mazur (850/487-9211), Larry Novey, and Mike Boland 

Gary R. VanLandingham, Ph.D., OPPAGA Director 

http://www.oppaga.state.fl.us/�


Report No. 10-22 OPPAGA Report 
 

7 

Appendix A 

 



OPPAGA Report Report No. 10-22 
 

8 

Appendix B 

 



Florida Legislature Office of Program Policy Analysis & Government Accountability

One-Stop Portals Benefit 
Businesses and the State

Presentation to the
Government Efficiency Task Force

October 19, 2011

Larry Novey
Chief Legislative Analyst



Florida Legislature Office of Program Policy Analysis & Government Accountability

Project Scope

In 2010, OPPAGA examined options 
for 
• consolidating business and tax 

registration functions currently residing 
within multiple state agencies and

• establishing an online business one-stop 
portal

2



Florida Legislature Office of Program Policy Analysis & Government Accountability 3

In Florida, Starting a Business 
Requires Many Stops

State Agency Activity
Department of State, 
Division of Corporations

Business registration – Corporate entities must 
usually register, some businesses required to 
register fictitious name

Department of Revenue,
General Tax Administration

Tax certificates – Businesses that sell taxable 
goods and services must obtain certificate(s)

Department of Business and 
Professional Regulation, 
Professional Regulation Program

Business or professional licenses – Individuals 
and companies in many fields must obtain 
licenses

Other state agencies Other licenses and permits – Department of 
Agriculture and Consumer Services, Department 
of Health, Department of Environmental 
Protection, and others



Florida Legislature Office of Program Policy Analysis & Government Accountability 4

Department of HealthDepartment of Agriculture 
& Consumer Services

Department of State
Department of Revenue

Department of 
Environmental ProtectionDepartment of Business & 

Professional Regulation



Florida Legislature Office of Program Policy Analysis & Government Accountability

Florida Business Coordination Act
Was Intended to Improve the Process

5

In 1997, the Legislature recognized that state 
requirements for establishing businesses 
were overly cumbersome

To address this concern, the Department of 
State was statutorily charged with creating a 
master business index

However, the Act was never fully 
implemented due to a variety of factors, 
including lack of agency participation 



Florida Legislature Office of Program Policy Analysis & Government Accountability

Other States Implemented One-Stop
Portals to Simplify Business Start-up 

6

Several other states have established 
online business portals 
• Allows applicants to enter business-related 

information one time, which is shared across 
agencies

• After completing online registration, applicants 
receive information and documents necessary to 
begin operating their business



Florida Legislature Office of Program Policy Analysis & Government Accountability

South Carolina Business One Stop is an 
Example of a Centralized System 

7



Florida Legislature Office of Program Policy Analysis & Government Accountability

Other States Report Advantages to 
Businesses and State Agencies 

8

Businesses
• Begin operating more quickly 
• No need to go to each agency separately
• Can use system anytime and anywhere

State Agencies
• Increased awareness of other agency data and 

processes
• Improved data accuracy
• Enhanced compliance with state laws and regulations



Florida Legislature Office of Program Policy Analysis & Government Accountability 9

There Are Several Key Components 
to  Successful Implementation

State Agency Activity

Leadership support Articulates vision and objectives and helps ensure progress

System governance and
project sponsor

Creates an accountability structure. One entity should be designated as 
the project sponsor and should receive direction from a steering 
committee of staff from participating agencies that would provide input 
into system design and refinement

Agency participation Mandatory participation ensures system incorporates all necessary
components

Stakeholder participation Helps ensure system is user-friendly through collaboration with user
groups such as small businesses, accountants, and lawyers

Consultant Helps ensure that the system design and implementation is led by staff
with needed expertise

Implementation plan with
concrete timelines

Promotes accountability and realistic project schedule

Data system analysis Identifies any needed changes to existing data systems

Funding Will require additional resources; some other states reported 
implementation costs ranging from $3 million to $10 million



Office of Program Policy Analysis & Government Accountability
OPPAGA supports the Florida Legislature by providing evaluative research and objective analyses to promote

government accountability and the efficient and effective use of public resources.

Florida Has Made Limited Progress to 
Streamline Business Processes; One-Stop 

Portals of Benefit to Some Other States

Report No. 10-22

http://www.oppaga.state.fl.us/Summary.aspx?reportNum=10-22


 
 

Florida Department of Revenue 
October 13, 2011 

ONE STOP REGISTRATION 
 

Background 
 

Before a new business can open in Florida, the owner must register with several different state agencies to 
comply with legal requirements for doing business in the state.  The Departments of State, Revenue, Business 
and Professional Regulation, Financial Services, Management Services, Lottery, and others, have registration 
requirements for businesses.  Not only is it time-consuming for businesses to register multiple times, it can be 
difficult for businesses to find out what their obligations are, because there is no central entry point to direct 
them to the information they need.   
 
For several years, individual agencies have attempted to reduce the burden on businesses by simplifying the 
registration process and eliminating duplication.  The Department of Business and Professional Regulation has 
streamlined registration requirements; the Department of Revenue has implemented one-stop registration for all 
the taxes and fees it administers; and the Department of State has created a single business identifier format 
that can be used across state agencies.  All three agencies have created online registration sites to make 
incorporation and registration processes more accessible for businesses.   
 
Vision 
 

One-stop registration for all business activities regulated by the State is the next logical step in making it easier 
for businesses to identify and comply with their obligations.  The Department of State, the Department of 
Business and Professional Regulation, the Florida Lottery, the Department of Revenue and other agencies are 
working together to identify the registration requirements imposed on businesses with the goal of creating a one-
stop registration portal for Florida. 
 
A phased approach is envisioned for the development of one-stop registration:  

1. Establish a common online portal for new businesses to complete registration requirements with various 
agencies, including the Department of Business & Professional Regulation, Department of Revenue, 
Department of State, the Florida Lottery and the Department of Financial Services (Worker’s 
Compensation). 

2. Expand to existing businesses and provide transactional functionality. 
3. Expand to additional agencies. 
4. Link to local government licensing and permitting requirements. 
 

Benefits 
 

A one-stop portal will enable businesses to enter their basic information one time, saving them time and 
ensuring consistent name, address, and other information across state agencies.  The portal will help them 
identify all their registration requirements, improving overall compliance and helping to make the playing field 
level for all businesses.  When the system is expanded to include existing businesses, a business will be able to 
enter a new address or a name change one time, and that change will be applied to all its registrations.  
Additional savings to businesses and the State can be realized by future consolidation of processes like 
receiving payments, conducting criminal background checks, and resolving complaints.  We can look forward to 
a day when all business registration, licensing, and permitting requirements at both the State and the local level 
can be accomplished through one secure site, streamlining the process for businesses, and making state 
government more efficient.   



FloridaFlorida’’ssFloridaFlorida’’ssFloridaFlorida’ss
One Stop RegistrationOne Stop Registration

FloridaFlorida’ss
One Stop RegistrationOne Stop Registration

Florida Government EfficiencyFlorida Government EfficiencyFlorida Government Efficiency

Task Force 

October 19, 2011

Lisa Vickers

Florida Government Efficiency

Task Force 

October 19, 2011

Lisa VickersLisa Vickers
Executive Director

Department of Revenue

Lisa Vickers
Executive Director

Department of Revenue



B i P t / Citi G t UBusiness Partner / Citizen Government User

Proposed 
One Stop Registration
Phase I – Shared Intake System

Licensing / Permitting Portal

Department of Revenue / Host

Phase I:
Provides new businesses a 
one-stop portal for business 
registrations and licensing 
Centralized transactional 
activities

Licensing / Permitting Portal
Business Wizard

(Identify basic business needs)

Transactional Activities
Applications/Permitting Shared Intake and Customer and

activities
Centralized payment processing 
for registrations, licensing and 
permit fees
Centralized inquiries
Provides customer view of 
individual accounts

Applications/Permitting
Account maintenance
Inquiries

Shared Intake and 
Access System

Customer and 
Agency ViewProvides limited agency 

participation and view access 

Benefits:
Easier for businesses to meet 
legal requirements
Increased compliance

Department 
of 

State

Department 
of

Financial 
Services
(Workers 

Compensation)

Department of 
Business and 
Professional 
Regulation

Department of 
Revenue

Increased compliance
Improvement of data

Department of 
Management 

Services 
(Vendor 

Registration)

Department 
of

Lottery
Compensation)



Business Partner / Citizen Government UserProposed
One Stop Registration
Phase II – Shared Access

Phase II:
Expand to existing businesses

Licensing / Permitting Portal

Department of Revenue / Host

Expand to existing businesses
Comprehensive customer view 
of individual accounts
Comprehensive agency view 
and increased participation
Addition of Department of 
Economic Opportunity
Business Outreach (incentives

Licensing / Permitting Portal

Business Wizard
(Identify basic business needs)

Transactional Activities

Business Outreach (incentives, 
credits, new development, etc.)
Centralized payment processing

Benefits:
Providing outreach for 
economic growth opportunities

Applications/Permitting
Account maintenance
Inquiries
Payment processing

Shared Intake and 
Access System

Comprehensive
Customer and 
Agency View

Provides increased employment 
opportunities
Easier for businesses to meet 
legal requirements
Increased compliance
Elimination of duplicate data
Improvement of data integrityp g y
Provides increased self service 
options 
Provides broader visibility to 
agencies

Department
Department 

of Department of Department of
Department of 
Management Department Department 

of 
State

Financial 
Services
(Workers 

Compensation)

Business and 
Professional 
Regulation

Department of 
Revenue

Department of 
Economic 

Opportunity
Other Agencies

Management 
Services 

(Vendor 
Registration)

Department 
of

Lottery



Business Partner / Citizen Government UserProposed
One Stop Registration
Phase III – Shared Services

Licensing / Permitting PortalLicensing / Permitting Portal

Department of Economic Opportunity / Host

Phase III:
Call center activities
Business assistance
Criminal background checks
Fingerprinting
Potential legislative reform
Increased agency participation

Licensing / Permitting Portal

Business Wizard
(Identify basic business needs)

Transactional Activities
Applications/Permitting
Account maintenance

Shared Intake and 
Access System Comprehensive

Increased agency participation

Benefits:
Providing outreach for 
economic growth opportunities
Provides increased employment 
opportunities Account maintenance

Inquiries
Payment processing
Applications/Renewals
Complaints
Criminal background 
checks
Fingerprinting

Customer and 
Agency View

Provides increased efficiencies 
across agencies
Easier for businesses to meet 
legal requirements
Increased compliance
Elimination of duplicate data
Improvement of data integrity Shared ServicesImprovement of data integrity

Department
Department 

of Department of 
B i d D t t f Department of

Department of 
Management Department Department 

of 
State

Financial 
Services
(Workers 

Compensation)

Business and 
Professional 
Regulation

Department of 
Revenue

Department of 
Economic 

Opportunity
Other Agencies

Management 
Services 

(Vendor 
Registration)

Department 
of

Lottery



Business Partner / Citizen Government UserProposed
One Stop Registration
Phase IV – Shared Partners

Li i / P itti P t lLicensing / Permitting Portal

Department of Economic Opportunity / Host

Phase IV:
Local permitting
Additional outreach
Additional agency participation
Potential legislative reform

Licensing / Permitting Portal

Business Wizard
(Identify basic business needs)

Transactional Activities
Applications/Permitting

Shared Intake and 
Access System C h i

Benefits:
Providing outreach for 
economic growth opportunities
Provides increased employment 
opportunities
Provides increased efficiencies 
across agencies Account maintenance

Inquiries
Payment processing
Applications/Renewals
Complaints
Criminal background 
checks
Fingerprinting

Access System Comprehensive
Customer and 
Agency View

across agencies
Easier for businesses to meet 
legal requirements
Increased compliance
Elimination of duplicate data
Improvement of data integrity

Shared ServicesShared Services

L lDepartment 
Department 

of Department of 
B i d D t t f Department of 

Department of 
Management Department Local 

Government

p
of 

State
Financial 
Services
(Workers 

Compensation)

Business and 
Professional 
Regulation

Department of 
Revenue

p
Economic 

Opportunity
Other Agencies

Management 
Services 

(Vendor 
Registration)

p
of

Lottery



One Stop Registration Tentative One Stop Registration Tentative 
Ti LiTi LiTime LineTime Line

Ph I D i d I l t tiPhase I Design and Implementation

Formation of interagency 
Executive Board, Technology and 
B dget Teams

Submission of placeholder LBR 
language

Budget Teams

Draft One Stop Registration 
Vision

Preliminary interagency 
requirement gathering

Release of RFI


	10-19-2011 GET Meeting Packet front
	FGA Start-Up Florida powerpoint
	Start-Up Florida
	The Foundation for Government Accountability
	Start-Ups Rely on Government Action (Not $) to Open Their Doors, Make a Sale, and Hire Employees
	Start-Ups: Not Just Two Guys in a Garage…
	Florida Start-Up Facts
	Government Delay for �Start-Ups Costs Everyone More
	Quantifying the �Cost of Bureaucratic Delay
	Quantifying the �Cost of Bureaucratic Delay
	Policy Implications
	Policy Implications

	OPPAGA NO. 10-22 One Stop
	Florida Has Made Limited Progress in Streamlining Business Processes; One-Stop Portals of Benefit to Some Other States
	at a glance

	Scope
	Background
	Exhibit 1 - Starting a Business in Florida Requires Separate Interactions with Multiple State Agencies

	Findings
	There has been limited progress in streamlining Florida’s business start-up processes
	Several states have implemented online one-stop systems to streamline business start-up processes
	Exhibit 2 - Several States Have Implemented One Stop Portals to Aid Business Start-up
	Exhibit 3 - There Are Several Key Components for Successful One-Stop Initiatives
	There are several key components to implementing an online business portal

	Agency Response
	Appendix A - Florida Dept. of State
	Appendix B - Florida Dept. of Revenue

	OPPAGA One_Stop_Presentation 10-19-2011
	One-Stop Portals Benefit �Businesses and the State
	Project Scope
	In Florida, Starting a Business �Requires Many Stops
	Slide Number 4
	Florida Business Coordination Act� Was Intended to Improve the Process
	Other States Implemented One-Stop�Portals to Simplify Business Start-up 
	South Carolina Business One Stop is an Example of a Centralized System 
	Other States Report Advantages to Businesses and State Agencies 
	There Are Several Key Components �to  Successful Implementation
	Florida Has Made Limited Progress to Streamline Business Processes; One-Stop Portals of Benefit to Some Other States��Report No. 10-22

	DOR - One-Stop Registration Overview 10-12-11
	DOR_-_One_Stop_Registration_-_Florida_Government_Efficiency_Task_Force_10-19-11_(2) [Compatibility Mode]

